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Directors
D.C. MARSHALL, Non-Executive Chairman
David Marshall is the chairman of London Finance & Investment Group PLC, which is a substantial shareholder
of Western Selection PLC. David is also chief executive of Marshall Monteagle PLC and a non-executive director
of Industrial & Commercial Holdings PLC. He resides in South Africa, where he has interests in listed trading,
financial and property companies.
E.J. BEALE, Non-Executive
Edward Beale is a Chartered Accountant and is the Financial Director of Marshall Monteagle PLC. He was a
member of the Accounting Council of the Financial Reporting Council for six years until August 2013. He is
currently a member, and previously was chairman, of the Corporate Governance Expert Group of the Quoted
Companies Alliance. He is a non-executive director of London Finance & Investment Group PLC, Brand
Architekts Group PLC, Heartstone Inns Limited, Industrial & Commercial Holdings PLC and City Group PLC, who
acts as company secretary and administrator to the Company.
A.J. HALL, Non-Executive
Andrew Hall held senior investment management positions with The Royal Trust Company of Canada and Aitken
Hume. In 1985 he joined Sarasin Investment Management Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Bank Sarasin
& Cie, a major private Swiss bank, as a director with responsibility for expanding investment services. From 1989
to 2000, he was managing director of Sarasin Investment Management Limited and, until May 2018, he was a
director of Sarasin Asset Management Limited. Andrew is now a consultant with Sarasin & Partners LLP.
J. DUMERESQUE, Non-Executive *
Jane Dumeresque is a Chartered Accountant and after leaving the accountancy profession she spent many years
in the investment management industry both as an investment manager and as a senior executive. In recent
years she has been Finance Director/Chief Executive and Non-Executive director of a number of AIM listed
companies and growing SMEs. Jane’s most recent role was as Chief Executive of one of the UK’s leading peerto-peer lending companies.
N.S. STAGG, Non-Executive *
Nick Stagg is Executive Chairman of MCG plc, a UK Premium listed consultancy group, and previously he held
senior management roles in a number of major commercial property, consultancy and investment banking
companies including his roles as Managing Director of W S Atkins Plc and Chief Executive Officer of previously
fully listed corporate stockbroker, Teather & Greenwood Holdings plc. Nick has considerable experience of
working with and developing small and mid-cap businesses as well as investment management.

* Member of the Audit Committee

1

63706_WESTERN SELECTION_Annual-Rep+Accs_2020_TXT-48pp_2.indd 2

1

28/09/2020 10:54

__________________________________
Corporate Contacts
Company Secretary
and Registered Office

City Group PLC
1 Ely Place,
London EC1N 6RY
Tel: 020 7796 9060
www.city-group.com

Registered Number

00234871

Website

www.westernselection.co.uk

Auditors

BDO LLP
2 City Place
Beehive Ring Road
Gatwick
West Sussex RH6 0PA

Registrars

Neville Registrars Limited
Neville House
Steelpark Road
Halesowen
West Midlands B62 8HD
Tel: 0121 585 1131
info@nevilleregistrars.co.uk

Aquis Exchange
Corporate Adviser

Cairn Financial Advisers LLP
Cheyne House
Crown Court
62-63 Cheapside
London EC2V 6AX
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Western Selection PLC (“Western”) is a United Kingdom company that, as a cornerstone investor, takes sizeable
minority stakes in relatively small companies, usually immediately before or as their shares are admitted to trading
on one of the UK’s stock exchanges, and have directors in common through which it can provide advice and
support for these growing companies.
Western’s ordinary share capital is admitted to trading on the AQSE Growth Market (formerly, NEX Exchange
Growth Market ).
The current price of the Company’s ordinary shares can be found on the AQSE Growth Market website
(www.nexexchange.com) and through the Company’s website: www.westernselection.co.uk.

Results in Brief
2020
£000
(180)
(180)

2019
£000
(187)
(2,424)
(2,611)

Nil
Nil

1.1p
Nil

(1.0)p

(14.5)p

Net assets, including investments at fair values

£8,127,000

£11,426,000

Number of ordinary shares in issue

17,949,872

17,949,872

Net assets per share

45p

64p

Mid-market price on 30 June

35p

45p

Loss on ordinary activities before the following:
Impairment provisions
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation
Interim dividend per share
Proposed final dividend per share
Loss per share

Financial Calendar
Announcement of unaudited Preliminary Results
for the year ended 30 June 2020

18 September 2020

Annual General Meeting

25 November 2020

Half year results to 31 December 2020

To be announced in February 2021

Interim Dividend for 2020

To be announced in February 2021
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Strategic Report
Business Model
Western’s objective is to generate growth in value for shareholders over the medium to long-term. The Company
also aspires to pay a progressive dividend, when in the best interest of the shareholders and the Company,
including ensuring any dividend paid would not have a negative effect on the ability to maintain continued growth.
In the short term the Board is focussing on achieving value with its portfolio of current Core Holdings, supporting
their management teams, including through further investments. At present we are not seeking to invest in new
Core Holdings.
Our business model is to take sizeable minority stakes in relatively small companies, usually immediately before,
or as, their shares are admitted to trading on one of the UK’s stock exchanges, and have directors in common
through which we can provide advice and support for these growing companies. These may or may not become
associated companies. The aim is that these companies (“Core Holdings”) will grow to a stage at which our support
is no longer required, and our stake can then be sold over time into the relevant stock market.
Companies that are targeted as Core Holdings will have an experienced management team, a credible business
model and also good prospects for growth. Core Holdings may be in any sector where management feels it has
specific competence.
Our objective is not to build a diversified portfolio, but to identify a limited number of good opportunities for growth
in value. This may well see risk concentrated even further than it has previously been.
To acquire these stakes in new Core Holdings, we need to be able to react quickly, and therefore to have readily
available funds to invest. To achieve this, we maintain a Treasury Operation consisting of a mix of cash, debt
facilities and liquid investments.
There has been an increased focus on Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) issues in recent years. The
Company acknowledges the benefits of socially responsible long-term investment.

Results for the year
2020 has been a challenging year for the Company. Political uncertainty coupled with economic uncertainty in the
form of stock market and exchange rate volatility have continued to impact on the Core Holdings and other
investments. The emergence of Covid-19 and the lockdown of the United Kingdom in the first quarter of 2020
disrupted businesses and caused uncertainty in the stock market. The markets have subsequently rebounded
since the lows seen in March and April although are still below the levels they were before Covid-19.
The Company’s net assets per share have decreased by 29.7% to 45p at 30 June 2020 compared with 64p per
share at 30 June 2019. This is largely due to adverse market conditions and illiquidity in our investments in Core
Holdings quoted on AIM, which has led to large decreases in the value of our quoted Core Holdings as a result of
relatively low transaction volumes. Our quoted Core Holdings decreased in value by 32.3% during the reporting
period, taking into account the purchase of a further 3,636,363 shares in Bilby PLC for £400,000.
Bilby did not pay a dividend in the period and as a result dividend income during the period from Core Holdings
has decreased to £56,000 compared with £150,000 for the same period last year.
Following this, the Company is reporting a loss on ordinary activities after tax for the year of £180,000 (2019 –
loss after tax £2,611,000)

Dividend
As the Company had not received dividend income from liquid assets, no interim dividend was recommended by
the board.
As market uncertainty continues, valuations of core holdings remain low and Western is no longer receiving
dividend income from its liquid investments, the Board is unable to recommend payment of a final dividend.
Dividends will recommence when the Company has sufficient distributable reserves.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Core Holdings
Northbridge Industrial Services plc (“Northbridge”)
Northbridge hires and sells specialist industrial equipment to a non-cyclical customer base. With offices or agents
in the UK, USA, Dubai, Germany, Belgium, France, Australia, New Zealand, China and Singapore, Northbridge
has a global customer base. This includes utility companies, the oil and gas sector, shipping, construction and
the public sector. The product range includes loadbanks, transformers and oil tools. Further information about
Northbridge is available on their website: www.northbridgegroup.co.uk
Northbridge, which is admitted to trading on AIM, announced its results for the year ended 31 December 2019 on
7 April 2020 and recorded a loss after tax of £236,000 for the year (2018- loss after tax £2,409,000). No dividend
was recommended by Northbridge and no dividends were received by Western from Northbridge during the year
(2019 - £Nil).
Western holds 3,300,000 Northbridge shares which represents 11.8% of Northbridge’s issued share capital. The
market value of this investment at 30 June 2020 was £2,739,000 (2019 - £4,900,500) which represents
approximately 33.7% (2019 – 42 %) of Western’s net assets.
Brand Architekts Group plc (“BAG”)
BAG, which is admitted to trading on AIM, is a beauty brands business specialising in the delivery a growing
portfolio of innovative and exciting new products, spanning areas such as haircare, skincare and body care, to
consumers and retailers. Further information about BAG
is available on its website:
https://www.brandarchitekts.com/
BAG announced its interim results for the 28 week period ended 11 January 2020 on 10 March 2020 and reported
profit after tax of £6,600,000 (2019 final results for the 52 week period - £3,640,000). This figure was heavily
impacted by the profit of £8.8m on disposal of its manufacturing business, offset by a loss on discontinued
operations of £2.5m.
Western holds 1,300,000 BAG shares which represents 7.6% of BAG’s issued share capital. The market value
has decreased to £1,625,000 (2019 - £2,502,000), which represents approximately 20% (2019 – 21.4%) of
Western’s net assets.
Edward Beale is a non-executive director of BAG.
Bilby Plc (“Bilby”)
Bilby is an established, and award winning, provider of gas installation, maintenance and general building services
to local authority and housing associations across London and South East England. They have a strategy of
growing organically and by acquisition. Further information about Bilby is available on their website:
www.bilbyplc.com.
Bilby, which is admitted to trading on AIM, announced its results for the year ended 31 March 2020 on 27 July
2020 showing a profit after tax of £1,379,000 compared to a loss after tax of £8,596,000 for the previous year
ended 31 March 2019. No interim dividends were paid during the year and Bilby’s Board did not recommend a
final dividend (2019 - £67,500).
Western holds 6,336,363 Bilby shares which represents 10.79% of Bilby’s issued share capital. Following the
additional £400,000 acquisitions during the year, the market value of this investment on 30 June 2020 has
increased to £1,235,590 (2019- £877,000),which represents approximately 15.2% (2019 – 7.5%) of Western’s
net assets.

Associated Companies
Tudor Rose International Limited (“Tudor Rose International”)
As announced in our final results on 30 September 2019, this investment had been fully provided against. With
effect from 8 April 2020 the Company sold its entire shareholding of 441,090 A Ordinary shares and 175,000,000
Preference shares in Tudor Rose International for £3 plus contingent deferred consideration and an option to
repurchase the shares at the same value. The option to repurchase the shares may be exercised on any date
between 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023. No deferred consideration is expected, and the Board does not expect
to exercise the option to repurchase the shares.
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Edward Beale and David Marshall resigned as directors of the Company with effect from 11 March 2020.
Industrial & Commercial Holdings PLC (“ICH”)
ICH is a small unquoted PLC in which Western holds 15,252,774 shares which represents a 29.9% interest. ICH
owns land at Milngavie, adjacent to Dougalston golf course, just north east of Glasgow, which, with planning
permission, has potential for residential development. Through its development partner, Mactaggart & Mickel, ICH
continues to make representations for its land to be included for housing development in the local authority’s next
five-year plan.
The initial Main Issues Report (“MIR”) was released by East Dunbartonshire Council in October 2019 which was
followed by a consultation period to which the Company’s development partner submitted additional
representations on behalf of the Company. The final MIR was due for publication in March 2020 but has been
delayed due in part to Covid-19 and discussion remain on-going at this stage.
David Marshall and Edward Beale are directors of ICH.
City Group PLC (“City Group”)
Western holds 48.6% and London Finance & Investment Group PLC (Western’s largest shareholder) holds 51.4%
of City Group, an unquoted public company, which provides head office and company secretarial services to both
these and other companies. City Group acts as a shared cost centre for related party clients and sells surplus
time to unrelated clients.
Edward Beale and David Marshall are directors of City Group.
Treasury Operations
Treasury operations comprise bank borrowing facilities of £1,900,000, Sterling and foreign currency bank
accounts (Euros, US Dollars and Swiss Francs). As of March 2020, Euro balances were redeployed in US Dollar
and Swiss Franc. This mix of currencies has provided opportunities to profit from any devaluation in sterling and
has resulted in £83,000 foreign exchange gain.
At the year-end the Company had cash of £2,475,000 (2019 – £3,093,000) and no stock market investments
(2019 - Nil). The Company had no outstanding bank borrowing at the year-end (2019 – Nil). The Company has
an Interest rate swap agreement with Coutts & Co covering the period to 30 September 2022. The interest swap
was valued as a liability of £36,885 at 30 June 2020 (2019 - £19,101).
Section 172 Statement
In line with their duties as set out in s172 of the Companies Act 2006, the Board of Directors act in a way they
consider would be most likely to promote the long term success of the Company for the benefit of its members as
a whole, whilst also having regard to the views and interests of wider stakeholders, the impact of its activities on
the community, the environment and the Company’s reputation for good business conduct, when making
decisions. As an investment company, the goal of the Company is to provide financial returns to the shareholders
over the long term. In this respect the Board of Directors, at all times, have due consideration as to the potential
effect of investment decisions and the benefit they may bring to the shareholders, this includes the re-investment
of funds into new investments or divesting of interests in investments and decisions regarding the payment of
dividends.
Within the financial year, the Board has continued to review decisions on any potential new investments within
the scope of what will bring long term benefit to the Company. With the emergence of Covid-19, the Board has
paid particular attention to the fluctuations of the stock markets, as well as the current cash reserve, to ascertain
if any further investment would be to the benefit of the Company and the shareholders in the long term. This
includes looking at the current stability and reputation as well as previous performances of any new investments
to ascertain their potential long-term viability.
Key investment decisions and matters that are of strategic importance to the Company are appropriately informed
by s172 factors, this includes the Board taking into account the consequences of any such decisions that could
affect the long term prosperity of the Company. In addition, the Board assess the merit of new investments to
ensure they can continue maintaining a reputation for high standards in the conducting of business.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Section 172 Statement (continued)
Within the financial year key decisions have included the sale of the Company’s entire shareholding in Tudor
Rose International Limited. In making this decision the Board considered the impact of the sale as well as the
potential of receiving any potential contingent consideration in the future. They had regard for the long-term
ramifications of divesting of the shares as well as how the decision would be of benefit to the overall shareholders
in terms of any potential receipt of funds. Consideration was also given as to the potential repurchase of the
shares and how this may provide benefit to the shareholders.
With regards to wider stakeholders, the Board of Directors consider the underlying strategic companies in which
the Company has invested as well as advisors and suppliers amongst the key stakeholders of the Company. In
this respect the Board of Directors engage with these stakeholders on a frequent basis in order to build and
strengthen such relationships. It is noted that, due to the nature of the Company, it does not have executives,
employees or operations to consider as stakeholders as further referenced in the Corporate Governance
Statement.
The views of and impact upon the wider stakeholders of the Company are considered as part of the board decision
process including engaging with stakeholders to ensure they have a clear understanding of the long term goals
of the Company and how the Board of Directors intend to achieve these goals.
The Board of Directors are committed to upholding the highest standard of corporate governance within the
Company and to ensure that they maintain a high level of knowledge and understanding of governance
requirements to be implemented by the Company. The Board of Directors have also implemented policies to
ensure the integrity and sustainability of the Company is upheld. The Section 172 statement and the duties it
covers will be reviewed by the board on an on-going basis so changes can be implemented if required.
The Directors’ Report and Corporate Governance report contain further details as to how the Board of Directors
undertake their decisions with regards to s172 of the Companies Act 2006 and the effect on the decision making
of the Board.
Outlook
The United Kingdom left the European Union on 31 January 2020 however as trade deal negotiations currently
remain unsettled the eventual outcome of Brexit is still unknown. In addition, rising political and trading policy
uncertainty across the globe have negatively affected trading conditions.
The first quarter of 2020 saw the emergence of a novel coronavirus Covid-19, with the United Kingdom going into
lockdown on 23 March 2020. In addition to the personal and social effects that Covid-19 has brought due to the
loss of life worldwide and locking down of entire countries, there has also been a significant financial impact
including on the stock market both in the United Kingdom and worldwide which has effected the value of
investments as well as companies’ desire to pay dividends.
Stock markets have rebounded worldwide since the lows in March and April, although they are yet to return to
pre-Covid levels, and there are encouraging signs of investor confidence improving. However, as the pandemic
remains widespread worldwide and a vaccine is not yet available, financial markets are still subject to fluctuations.
The Covid-19 pandemic and the possibility of a second wave potentially influencing economic recovery continues
to cause certain uncertainty. This includes the possibility of another downturn in the market and companies being
pushed into liquidation due to the consequences of decreased trading during the pandemic. In addition, increased
costs and difficulties in trading that may arise from a no-deal Brexit. These risks have the potential to cause
indirect issues for the Company as the amount of income received from dividends could be lower than anticipated
and the overall value of assets held could be decreased, thereby decreasing the value of the Company as a
whole.
Despite these factors, the Company implements robust mitigation methods including ensuring the Company has
access to sufficient funds to meet all financial obligations, conducting intermittent stress testing to ensure the
Company shall remain a viable going concern for at least 3 years and monthly reviews of the Company’s
investment portfolio so swift action can be taken, if required, if issues are raised with any investment.
In addition there have been encouraging signs with respect to the recovery of global markets and therefore the
Company continues to aim to reinvest the proceeds from the sale of its liquid investments when opportunities
arise to buy shareholdings in good companies at sensible prices whilst recognising the need for caution in the
current economic climate.
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Summary of Net Assets

Quoted Core Holdings
Northbridge Industrial
Services plc
BAG plc (formerly
Swallowfield plc)
Bilby Plc
Total

Cost
£000

2020
Carrying
Value
£000

%

3,089

2,739

1,447
2,635
7,171

Cost
£000

2019
Carrying
Value
£000

%

34

3,089

4,901

43

1,625
1,236
5,600

20
15
69

1,447
2,235
6,771

2,502
878
8,281

22
8
73

-

-

-

-

-

-

164
75
239

50
102
152

1
1
2

164
75
239

53
100
153

1
1

7,410
2,475

5,752
2,475

71
30

7,010
3,093

8,434
3,093

74
27

(100)
9,785

(100)
8,127

(1)
100

(101)
10,002

(101)
11,426

(1)
100

Associated companies (a)
Tudor Rose International
Limited (b)
Industrial & Commercial
Holdings Plc
City Group Plc
Total
Total Core Holdings
Net cash
Other net (liabilities)/assets
(c)
Net Assets

Notes
a) The carrying value of these associated companies is cost plus the Company’s share of profits/(losses).
b) The investment in Tudor Rose was fully impaired in 2019 and sold in April 2020.
c) Other net assets include non-cash assets within Treasury Operations and other working capital balances.

Key Performance Indicators
Key Performance Indicators (“KPIs”) are the yardsticks against which the Board measures the performance of
the Company. Our objective is to provide, over the medium to long-term, real growth in value for shareholders
through capital growth and the payment of progressive dividends. The KPIs below reflect our business model
and form the basis for discussion at Board meetings.

Shareholders’ funds per share - pence
Dividends per share – pence
Our other principal KPIs are:
(Loss)/earnings per share – pence
Administration expenses - £’000

2020
45
Nil

2019
64
2.2

2018
96.3
2.2

2017
95.4
2.2

2016
79.1
2.1

(1.0)p
326

(14.5)p
332

(1.31)p
348

4.7p
325

0.4p
290

2019 loss includes the impairment provisions against the investment in Tudor Rose and other associates. 2018
loss and 2017 earnings include the profit on the partial disposal of the Company’s investment in Swallowfield. The
timing of realisation of investments makes this measure volatile.
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Strategic Report (continued)
Definition of KPIs used above
Shareholders’ funds per share - Net assets, including investments at market value at the period end valuation,
divided by the number of shares in issue at the year end.
Dividends per share - Dividends declared (Interim and Final) for the year.
Earnings per share - Earnings for the year, including exceptional items as disclosed in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income, divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue over the year, as set out in
note 7 on page 34.
Administration expenses – excludes bank revaluation.

Financial Instruments
The financial instruments of the Company are the Core Holdings and Treasury Operations. Details of the
Company’s risk assessments and risk policy are set out in note 15 on pages 38 to 39.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Our business model is to embrace risk associated with our Core Holdings and to manage operational risk in
supporting processes. The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are:
Stock market volatility and economic uncertainty
The Company’s investment performance will be affected by general economic and market conditions. Although
the Company cannot predict the level of growth in the global economy, as with most businesses, it believes a
period of weak market growth will have an adverse effect on its investments. Volatility relating to the Company’s
investments, including movements in interest rates and returns from equity and other investments will impact
upon the value of the Group’s investment portfolio. This risk has been increased by the Brexit process as well
as the emergence of Covid-19 by diminishing investor confidence as well as increasing uncertainty which can
lead to a downturn in the markets. In addition, the performance of the Core Holdings is affected by the reduction
in consumer spending brought about through the Covid-19 lockdown and wider uncertainty over the Brexit
process. Fluctuations in the stock market are reviewed on a daily basis and any concerns are brought to the
attention of the Board as early as is possible so action can be taken to mitigate the risk identified. This can
include the sale of assets if deemed in the best interests of the shareholders and the Company. The Board
also monitor the performance of Core Holdings on a regular basis and support with their management to
achieve the best results possible to facilitate a return to the Company. This can include making additional
investments into the Core Holdings should this be deemed in the best interest of the Company.
Possible volatility of share prices of Core Holdings and Treasury Portfolio investments
A number of factors outside the control of the Company, such as Brexit and Covid-19, may impact the share
price performance of its investments due to the potential adverse impact they can have on both domestic and
global stock markets. Such factors could include investor sentiment, local and international stock market
conditions, divergence of results from analysts’ expectations, changes in earnings estimates by analysts and
changes in political and economic sentiment. Exchange rate movements will contribute to the volatility of prices
of foreign stocks. The Company manages such risks by ensuring due diligence is conducted by both the
investment committee and the Board, on any new investment proposed to consider their long-term viability.
The investment portfolio is also reviewed on a monthly basis by the board to ensure issues, such as large
decreases in value or negative attention, are identified in a timely manner. The Board also take an active role
in engaging with the boards of core holdings to ensure they act in the best interests of the shareholders.
Ability to make strategic investments
There are limited opportunities for the Company to make strategic investments and therefore there is no
guarantee that the Company will be able to do so at a price the directors believe will represent fair value. The
uncertainty of Brexit has meant that companies may have held back on expansion plans or relocated their
business altogether seeking a more stable environment, this has contributed to reducing the number of eligible
candidates to review. In addition, Covid-19 has unfortunately seen many businesses struggle to survive due
to the downturn in sales or demand for services, this has that meant potential candidates would no longer be
considered viable for investment. The investment committee continually looks for suitable opportunities for
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investment and any candidates are robustly discussed by the Board to ensure any investment would be in the
best interest of the shareholders and the Company.
Exposure to Core Holdings
Core Holdings comprise the equity of “small cap” companies, both listed and unlisted. We are exposed to the
risk of underperformance of these investments, including risks associated with Brexit Covid-19 and the risk
that performance is not recognised in their share price. Such effects on performance can be seen in the
reduction in the sale of products due to the closing of retail shops or the negative impact on industries such as
oil due to the reduction of demand due to travel restrictions implemented in lockdown. There is also a risk that
due to the low level of liquidity in the equity of these core holdings the Company may not be able to realise its
investment, either at all, or at a price the Company believes reflects fair value. The market valuation and trade
volumes for these investments are monitored and reviewed on a monthly basis. The board also work to support
the management of the Core Holdings to encourage the best possible trading performance.
The policies of the Board for review and managing the risks associated with its financial instruments are set out
in note 15 on pages 38 to 39.

Share Capital
At 30 June 2020, the issued share capital of the Company was 17,949,872 ordinary shares of 40p each. The
Company considers its capital to consist of ordinary share capital, share premium and capital reserves. The
Company’s primary objective in managing its capital is to provide, over the medium to long-term, real growth in
value for shareholders through capital growth and the payment of progressive dividends. The Company has no
borrowing and intends to maintain a low gearing ratio.

Annual General Meeting
The Notice of the Annual General Meeting, to be held on 25 November 2020, can be found on pages 41 to 42 of
this Annual Report and sets out the business to be considered at the meeting. Resolutions 1 to 4 will be proposed
as Ordinary Resolutions and Resolutions 5 and 6 will be proposed as Special Resolutions. Certain elements of
the business relating to these Resolutions are explained below:
Resolution 2
Re-election of Non-Executive Director
To re-elect Mr David Marshall as a non-executive director, who retires by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting and offers himself for re-election in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. The Board
has confirmed that Mr David Marshall continues to perform effectively and demonstrate commitment to his
role. Further information relating to the experience and background of Mr David Marshall can be found on page
1 of this Annual Report.
Resolution 4
Allotment of share capital
Resolution 4 provides authority to allot shares in accordance with section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 in
the period up to the conclusion of the Company’s annual general meeting in 2020. If passed, this resolution
would enable the directors to allot shares (and to grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into
shares in the Company) up to an aggregate nominal amount of £4,820,000 which is just below the amount of
the Company’s authorised but unissued share capital. The directors have no specific plans to allot any ordinary
shares in the Company.
Resolution 5 (Special Resolution)
Disapplication of pre-emption rights
Resolution 5 will empower the directors to allot ordinary shares for cash, pursuant to the authority granted by
Resolution 4, on a non-pre-emptive basis (a) in connection with a rights issue or open offer and (b) (otherwise
than in connection with a rights issue or open offer) up to a maximum nominal value of £717,995 representing
approximately 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 21 October 2020 (being the
latest practicable date prior to publication of this document) in the period up to the conclusion of the Company’s
Annual General Meeting in 2020.
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Annual General Meeting (continued)
Resolution 6 (Special Resolution)
Purchase of own shares
At the last Annual General Meeting, shareholders gave the Company limited authority to buy its own shares in
the market at a minimum price for any such purchase of 40p. A similar resolution will be proposed at this year’s
Annual General Meeting as the directors believe that in certain circumstances it may be in shareholders’ best
interest to buy in shares if the discount between the share price and net asset value is sufficiently large.
Recommendation
The Board believes that the adoption of Resolutions 1 to 6 will promote the success of the Company and is in
the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The Board unanimously recommends that
you vote in favour of Resolutions 1 to 6 as the directors intend to do in respect of their own beneficial holdings
which as at 21 October 2020 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this document) amount in
aggregate to 121,800 ordinary shares, representing approximately 0.68% of the ordinary shares currently in
issue.
18 September 2020

By Order of the Board

City Group PLC
Company Secretary
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their Report for the year ended 30 June 2020.
The Corporate Governance Statement, approved by the Board, is provided on pages 15 to 22 and is incorporated
by reference herein.

Results and Future Developments
A review of the Company’s trading performance during the financial year, including the dividend income received
from its Core Holdings and from its Treasury Operations and setting out its Net Assets per share at the year-end,
and an indication of the outlook for the future, is contained in the Strategic Report on page 8.
The Board will continue with its strategy to generate growth in value for shareholders in line with its business
model which is explained in the Strategic Report on page 4.

Financial Instruments, Risks and Uncertainties
The Company’s financial instruments are the Core Holdings, details of which are set out in the Strategic Report
on pages 5 to 6, and its Treasury Operations, details of which are set out in the Strategic Report on page 6.
The Company’s exposure to risks is explained in Risks and Uncertainties in the Strategic Report on pages 9 to
10 and the policies of the Board for the review and management of the risks associated with its financial
instruments are set out in Note 15 to the Financial Statements on page 39.
Going Concern
Covid-19 was declared a global pandemic on 11 March 2020 and has had a profound personal, social and
financial impact around the world. On the 23 March 2020 the United Kingdom went into lockdown which impacted
all areas of the economy. Consequently, there have been large fluctuations on stock markets in both the United
Kingdom and globally, although stock market indices have recovered substantially since their lows in March 2020.
The longterm effect is likely to be on dividends cancelled, deferred, or re-based, and on increased volatility.
At the time of writing the pandemic continues to have an effect on both the United Kingdom and global economies
and, with the potential for new waves of the pandemic occurring, it is not possible to say with any certainty when
the effects of the pandemic may dissipate substantially. Such uncertainty affects the investments in the Core
Holdings by reducing the value of investments in addition to the value received from the Core Holdings through
the non-payment of dividends. The continuation of the pandemic increases the likelihood of the Core Holdings
continuing to refrain from declaring dividends in the next financial year and thereby reducing the income to the
Company. There is also the potential that a second lockdown will affect the ability for the Core Holdings to conduct
business in areas such as the sale of products, which may potentially affect their ability to continue as a going
concern.
In response to these uncertainties the Board has sought to minimise the risks to the Company and are actively
monitoring the performance of the Company’s investments. Although the Core Holdings have been effected by
the Covid-19 pandemic they have continued to perform, despite the challenges faced, and the directors are
comfortable as to their long term viability and the ability to return to the payment of dividends in future years.
Uncertainty over Brexit has also affected investor confidence due to the uncertainty surrounding the United
Kingdom’s position at the end of the transition period on 1 January 2021. There is also doubt as to whether there
will be a trade deal with the EU in place before this date. A no-deal Brexit is likely to lead to significant disruption
in supply chains and business practices, as well as increased cost to businesses to be able to suitably adapt,
which could have an impact on the Company’s Core Holdings. The Board will continue to monitor the situation
and provide support to Core Holdings who may struggle in a no-deal scenario.
Due to the relatively low cost of operating the Company compared to the high value of the cash balance held of
£2,475,000, and the Company having additional access to funds that will allow the Company to continue trading,
the Board is satisfied that the Company shall continue to be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due
for at least 12 months from the date of signing the financial statements. In addition, the Company also conducts
intermittent stress testing to ensure the Company shall remain a viable going concern for at least 3 years. The
board will also continue to seek out investment opportunities that will enhance the financial performance of the
Company.
The Board will continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of these financial
statements.
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Directors’ Report (continued)
Dividends
Due to ongoing uncertainties in the market, no interim dividend was paid during the year and the Board has not
recommended a final dividend.

Directors
A list of the present directors of the Company is shown on page 1. A list of the directors who served during the
year and their beneficial interests in the Company’s ordinary shares is set out below:
At 30 June
D.C. Marshall
E.J. Beale
A.J. Hall
J. Dumeresque
N.S. Stagg

2020
Ordinary Shares
121,800
-

2019
Ordinary Shares
121,800
-

There have been no changes in the directors and their share interests between 30 June 2020 and the date of this
report.
David Marshall retires by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association and, being eligible, offers himself
for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 25 November 2020.
Two of the Company’s directors, David Marshall and Edward Beale, are also directors of London Finance &
Investment Group PLC.

Substantial Interests
At the date of this report the Company has been notified pursuant to Rule 5 of the Disclosure and Transparency
Rules of the following interests in 3% or more of the Company’s ordinary shares:

London Finance & Investment Group PLC
W.T. Lamb Holdings Limited
Lynchwood Nominees Limited
Nortrust Nominees Limited
Forest Nominees Limited
T.W.G. Charlton
The Corporation of Lloyds
Cheviot Capital (Nominees) Limited
P S Allen

Shareholding

% interest

7,860,515
1,287,500

43.8
7.2

948,500
917,500
841,542
725,734
629,442
571,542
553,250

5.3
5.1
4.7
4.0
3.5
3.2
3.1

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
During the financial year, the Company has maintained insurance cover for its directors and officers under a
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance policy. The Company has not provided any qualifying third-party
indemnity cover for the directors.

Political and Charitable Donations
No political or charitable donations have been made during the financial year.
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Statement of disclosure of information to auditors
The directors of the company who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that:
•
•

so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company’s auditors are
unaware; and
they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

18 September 2020

By Order of the Board

City Group PLC
Company Secretary
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Corporate Governance Statement
Chairman’s Introduction
As Chairman of the Board of Directors, I recognise the necessity of, and take responsibility for, ensuring high
levels of governance are adhered to by the Board in both decision making and conduct of the Board and Company
as a whole.
We recognise good governance as being the cornerstone of building robust values such as integrity and fairness
that permeate all aspects of the Company’s strategy, behaviour and culture. The implementation of good
governance structures allows for the effective management of the Company and mitigation of risks to the benefit
of all shareholders and our wider stakeholders. As Chairman I shall continue to ensure the Board of Directors
adheres to and maintains high governance standards and the following report highlights how the Board has
implemented said standards.
The Company’s corporate governance is founded on the Board having good quality people in place with relevant
skills and experience, working as a team, to achieve the Company’s investment strategy and deliver value for
shareholders as a whole over the medium to long-term. Appropriate organisational structures and processes
provide a framework supporting such teamwork, but are no substitute either for teamwork, or the skills or
experience needed to achieve objectives.
Governance Report
The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance and it subscribes to the principles
of good corporate governance as set out in the QCA Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the “QCA Code”). In
applying the QCA Code companies must show how they have applied the ten principles of the QCA Code (the
“Principles”) to its governance.
The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance and how it complies with the Principles is
explained in this Corporate Governance Statement together with the disclosures required by the Code.
The Company’s application of the QCA Code and its Principles are as follows:
1. Establish a strategy and business model which promote long-term value for shareholders
The Company’s strategy and business model
The Board has for a number of years pursued a particular investment strategy which it reviews on a regular basis.
The strategy and business model are set out in the Strategic Report on page 4 of this document. A table of the
Company’s Key Performance Indicators is set out in the Strategic Report on pages 8 to 9.
Key challenges
The key challenges for the Company are in identifying suitable opportunities for investment in new Core Holdings,
and in there being sufficient liquidity to allow for the disposal of such investments at a time of the Company’s
choosing. In the light of these challenges, the Board remains confident that the Company’s current strategy will
continue to deliver shareholder value and provide stable dividend income in the medium to long-term.
2. Seek to understand and meet shareholder needs and expectations
Shareholder communication
The Company’s principal communication with Shareholders is the Company’s Annual Report & Accounts for each
year ended 30 June. Copies of the Company’s Annual Report & Accounts which includes Notice of the Annual
General Meeting (“AGM”) are sent to all our Shareholders usually in September/October prior to the AGM being
held in November or December.
Shareholders can also obtain copies of the Annual Report and the Company’s Interim Results for the six-month
period ended 31 December by downloading them from the ‘Investors’ Section of the Company’s website –
www.westernselection.co.uk. In addition, copies of the reports can be provided on request by writing to the
Company Secretary, City Group PLC, at 1 Ely Place, London EC1N 6RY.
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The Board seeks to present a fair and balanced assessment of the Company’s financial position and prospects
in its financial reports. Comments from Shareholders on the quality and content of the reports and areas for
improvement are always welcomed.
In addition to providing Shareholders with the Annual Report and Interim Results, further communication is
provided in the form of announcements, which are released to the AQSE Growth Market and posted to the News
page within the Investors Section of the Company’s website, and through the Company’s AGMs.
The AGM provides a forum for discussion between the Board and Shareholders. The Board welcomes the
participation of Shareholders in AGMs which gives Shareholders the opportunity to vote on resolutions and put
questions to the Board in the formal part of the Meeting.
All Shareholders have the opportunity, if they are unable to attend AGMs, to vote on resolutions through the use
of proxy forms. Shareholders who attend AGMs also have the opportunity to have informal discussions with the
Board following the formal part of these Meetings.
Due to Covid-19, Companies have been required re-evaluate the method by which AGMs are held given the
restrictions on physical meetings, The Board is committed to holding a physical AGM where possible and safe to
do so in line with the advice from the Government. In the event that a physical meeting would no longer be
possible, or should there remain a restriction on the number of attendees in person, the Board is shall hold a
closed AGM with the shareholders encouraged to submit questions to the company secretary and to submit proxy
forms to ensure their votes are counted.
Immediately following the holding of an AGM, an announcement of the result of the AGM is released to the
AQSE Growth Market and a copy of the announcement is posted on the News page within the Investors Section
of the Company’s website. The announcement also provides, for information, details of the number of the proxy
votes that had been cast in respect of each resolution on a poll or which would have been cast if a poll had been
called. A table is included showing the number of votes for and against each resolution and also the number of
votes withheld.
At last year’s AGM, all resolutions put to the Meeting were passed by the required majority. Proxy vote received
were overwhelmingly in favour of the resolutions. There were only 200 proxy votes against the resolutions 4 & 5
and no proxy votes were withheld.
Shareholder liaison
Outside of AGMs, the Chairman is available, by arrangement, for discussions with Shareholders. The Company’s
Senior Independent director, Andrew Hall, is also available for meetings and discussions and the Company
Secretary, City Group PLC, can also be contacted on shareholder and investor relations issues and matters of
governance.
Whilst the AGM is a good opportunity for discussion between the Board and its Shareholders, shareholder
attendance at such meetings in recent years has been low. The Board seeks to encourage more Shareholders to
attend the AGMs in the future and encourages Shareholders to contact the Company Secretary with their
questions and issues prior to the holding of AGMs.
3. Take into account wider stakeholder and social responsibilities and their implications for long-term
success
Key resources and relationships
The Company’s strategy and business model is set out in the Strategic Report on page 4.
The Company’s key resources in meeting its strategy are the management and funding availability.
The Company, given its size and the nature of its business, does not have an extensive range of stakeholders.
The Company’s key stakeholders are the Shareholders but other stakeholders who take an active interest in our
success and who the Board is responsible to are the management teams of the Company’s Core Holdings, the
Company’s regulators, its professional advisers and its bankers.
Communication with Stakeholders
The Board’s communication with the Shareholders and how it seeks their feedback is explained under Principle
2 above. The Board will respond promptly to such feedback.

16
16

63706_WESTERN SELECTION_Annual-Rep+Accs_2020_TXT-48pp_2.indd 17

28/09/2020 10:54

Western Selection PLC___________________________

Western Selection PLC

Corporate Governance Statement (continued)
Communication with Stakeholders (continued)
The Board’s communication with the Shareholders and how it seeks their feedback is explained under Principle
2 above. The Board will respond promptly to such feedback.
The Board is in regular contact with the management teams of the Company’s Core Holdings in which the
Company is invested, details of which are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 5 and 6. Feedback and
commentary from these teams is always welcome and is responded to promptly.
There is contact from time to time with the Company’s regulator, AQSE Growth Market, and with our professional
advisers and our bankers, Coutts & Co, with whom the Company has a revolving credit facility. When we have
the opportunity to meet with or call these groups, to provide updates or for discussions on other matters, feedback
is welcomed.
Another potential key stakeholder group for companies are employees. However, other than its directors, the
Company has no employees and no staff.
Given the size of the Company and the nature of its business, there are no significant social and environmental
considerations that might impact on the Company’s strategy and business model and ultimately affect the
Company’s stakeholders.

4. Embed effective risk management, considering both opportunities and threats, throughout the
organisation
Key Risks and Uncertainties
The Company’s key risks and uncertainties are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 9 to 10 and the main
risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments and how these are managed by the Board are set out in
Note 15 to the Financial Statements on pages 38 to 39. The Company’s strategy and business model and the
Company’s risks and uncertainties are reviewed annually.
The Board regularly considers potential risks to its strategy and the Company’s business and concluded its annual
risks assessment prior to the preparation of this Annual Report & Accounts and the impact of these risks on the
interests of the Company’s stakeholders were also considered. As a result, the assessment of risk by the Board
was that the policies for managing these risks should remain unchanged.
5. Maintain the Board as a well-functioning, balanced team led by the chair
The Board
The Company operates an effective Board, which comprises non-executive directors and is chaired by David
Marshall supported by an experienced Company Secretary. Director biographies for the current directors are
given on page 1 of this Annual Report & Accounts.
The Board as a whole manages the business of the Company on behalf of the Shareholders and in accordance
with the Articles of Association. This is achieved through its decision making and where appropriate through the
delegation of certain responsibilities to committees.
The Board’s primary tasks is to enhance Shareholders’ long-term interests by reviewing and approving the
Company’s business strategy, approving investment decisions and material agreements, maintaining and
overseeing the Company’s systems and controls, audit processes and risk management policies, preparing and
approving the Company’s financial statements as well as revenue and capital budgets and plans.
Controls and systems
The Board is aware of the need for appropriate controls and systems to safeguard the Company’s assets. Risks
are regularly reviewed and appropriate controls have been established and are monitored by the Board. Other
than investment risk, the main risks are around misappropriation of assets, diversion of income, and improper
expenditure. Controls include authorisation limits, segregation of duties and prompt reviews of transactions.
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Independence of the Directors
The independent non-executive directors of the Company are Andrew Hall, Jane Dumeresque and Nick Stagg.
Andrew Hall is considered by the Board to be independent, despite the length of time that he has been a member
of the Board, taking into account his experience, skills and personal qualities (including independence of character
and judgement) and the Company’s remuneration and ownership structures.
Directors’ time commitments
Each of the directors has entered into a Letter of Appointment with the Company and under the terms of these
appointment letters, each director has agreed to devote such time and attention as is necessary to carry out
his/her responsibilities and duties as a director but subject thereto each director will not be expected to devote
more than 30 days in any period of 6 months to their respective functions as a non-executive director. Each of the
directors has confirmed that he/she can give this commitment to the Company.
Committees
A separate Audit Committee is established. The Audit Committee is comprised of two of the Company’s
independent non-executive directors, Jane Dumeresque and Nick Stagg. The Board is satisfied that the Audit
Committee’s composition continues to retain the appropriate mix of knowledge, skills, experience, diversity and
independence to ensure its effectiveness.
The Audit Committee meets on a timely basis, at least twice a year. The Audit Committee is chaired by Jane
Dumeresque. No separate Audit Committee report is presented to shareholders as the Board does not consider
at present that this would improve the quality of communication with Shareholders given the simple structure of
the Company. The Board will continue to review this approach.
The main roles of the Audit Committee are to monitor the Company’s internal controls, oversee reporting of risk
and risk mitigation processes, manage the relationship with, and review reports from, the Company’s auditors and
to review communications with shareholders concerning the Company’s accounts.
The Company has no Remuneration Committee because the Company has no employees and the remuneration
of each director is limited by the Articles of Association and considered and set by the Board as a whole. Details
of each director’s remuneration is set out in the statutory accounts which are to be approved by Shareholders at
the forthcoming AGM in November. Each of the directors has a Letter of Appointment with the Company. None
of the directors has a service contract with the Company. Share options are not awarded to directors for services
provided to the Company.
As the Board is small there is not a separate Nominations Committee and recommendations for appointments to
the Board will be considered by the Board as a whole, after due evaluation. In accordance with the Company’s
Articles of Association, the Board, as a whole, makes decisions regarding the appointment and removal of
directors. At each AGM of the Company one-third of the directors are subject to retirement by rotation provided
that the number of directors retiring does not exceed one-third.
Board and Committees’ attendance
The Board met on six occasions and the Audit Committee met on three occasions during the year following formal
agendas. Attendance at the scheduled Board and Audit Committee meetings during the year is shown in the
following table:
Board and Audit Committee attendance
No. of scheduled meetings
attended in the year
D.C. Marshall
A.J. Hall
E.J. Beale
J.G. Dumeresque
N.S. Stagg

Board

Audit Committee

6
6
6
5
6

3
3
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6. Ensure that between them the directors have the necessary up to-date experience, skills and
capabilities
The Board and directors’ experience and skills
The Board as a whole remains confident that it has a strong team which contains the necessary mix and balance
of experience, skills, personal qualities and capabilities to deliver the Company’s strategy for the benefit of the
shareholders over the medium to long-term. The Board will continue to review the collective resources of its
directors and whether further resource and skills may be required to deliver on the Company’s strategic objectives.
It is not envisaged at this time that any further appointments will be made to the Board in the short-term.
The background and experience of the Board is set out on page 1. Each of the directors has capital markets and
listed company experience and in addition each has the following skills, capabilities and personal qualities:
David Marshall, Chairman
Skills: Extensive business experience over 40 years; developing and growing successful businesses in the UK
and South Africa; considerable knowledge and awareness of international economies and markets; financial and
analytical skills.
Capabilities: strong track record in developing trading, financial and property companies; recognised for his
investment management capability and insight; strong leadership skills as a director and in particular as a
chairman; fosters and promotes positive business cultures and effective management.
Personal qualities: Excellent inter-personal skills, a good communicator and negotiator, and, as a director and
chairman, welcomes engagement and discussion with shareholders.
Andrew Hall, Senior Independent Director
Skills: Over 40 years of activity in financial services and investment management; successful record in investment
management and in developing business strategies and processes to enhance services and performance where
he has held senior investment positions.
Capabilities: has worked with a number of leading city institutions in his career where, as a senior executive, his
leadership skills have created successful investment strategies and platforms; well connected through a
professional network built up over the course of his career; as an active investor he has a particular interest in the
investment and development of technology companies focused on power generation and storage.
Personal qualities: knowledgeable, informed and a good communicator; appointed as the Company’s Senior
Independent director with the opportunity, alongside the Chairman, David Marshall, to meet and communicate
with the Company’s shareholders.
Edward Beale
Skills: Chartered Accountant with considerable financial and accounting skills developed in both small and large
companies operating globally and as a director of a wide range of companies, including the Company and London
Finance & Investment Group PLC; currently CFO to JSE listed Marshall Monteagle PLC.
Capabilities: strong business management capability in a wide range of environments; considerable experience
and understanding of accounting standards and financial reporting, expert adviser on practical governance and
corporate reporting, regulatory and compliance issues.
Personal qualities: Informed, capable, committed and a good communicator.
Jane Dumeresque
Skills: Chartered Accountant with an MBA from the LSE; strong financial, accounting research and management
skills acquired over 30 years and applied to senior roles in the financial services sector including in corporate
broking and investment management.
Capabilities: She has also held senior executive roles as CFO and CEO with listed and private companies. She
has led management teams in developing companies and new business strategies and with her financial skills
she has achieved business efficiencies and improved financial performances; she has a strong understanding of
compliance and regulation and the evaluation of strategy and risk and a particular interest in identifying companies
which can benefit from changes in their particular industries either through rapid organic growth or as likely
acquisition targets in industry consolidations.
Personal qualities: gregarious, committed, informed and with strong integrity.
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Nick Stagg
Skills: Chartered Accountant; strong financial and business skills; over 30 years of specialising in the management
of international people businesses focused on finance, management, legal practices and property consultancies;
as CFO, CEO and Executive Chairman successfully managed a number of international businesses with
worldwide operations; initiated, negotiated and completed a wide range of acquisitions, mergers and disposals;
evaluation and management of business risks including compliance and regulation.
Capabilities: strong leadership and decision maker capability; HR experience in creating and developing high
quality management teams.
Personal qualities: good communicator and negotiator; well connected through an extensive network of investors
and professionals.
Skills updating and training
The directors keep abreast of the markets and financial, investment and economic news through the financial
press and journals. From time to time, the directors also attend professional and investment industry related
conferences and seminars with a view to keeping up to date with professional issues and technical skills and
industry developments.
All directors are encouraged to maintain individual continuing professional education programmes and all have
the opportunity, if required, to attend specialist courses which can enhance their skills relative to the Company’s
investment business. The Company Secretary, from time to time, provides technical briefings relating to regulatory
and compliance issues and corporate governance and Cairn Financial, the Company’s Aquis Stock Exchange
corporate adviser, from time to time provides briefings on the AQSE Growth Market Rules and other compliance
matters.
Advisers to the Board
The Company retains the services of City Group as Company Secretary and two external advisers, BDO LLP, its
auditors, and Cairn Financial Advisers LLP, the Company’s Aquis Stock Exchange adviser.
The Company Secretary, City Group, assists the Chairman in the effective organisation of the Board and attends
all Board and Board Committee meetings and Audit Committee meetings to record the business and proceedings
of such meetings. The Company Secretary assists the Board generally in understanding the impact of public
market regulation on the Company and its business and is available at all times to provide advice and guidance
to the Directors and ensure that each of them is aware of, and that the Company and Directors meet, their statutory
and regulatory obligations.
The Board and Audit Committee did not seek any external advice during the year.
Subject to certain conditions, the directors are entitled to obtain independent professional advice at the Company’s
expense.
Internal Roles and Responsibilities
David Marshall, as Chairman, is responsible for leading an effective Board with strategic focus and direction and
fostering a good corporate culture.
Andrew Hall, as Senior Independent Director, provides support and guidance to the Chairman and other directors
of the Company. Along with the Chairman he is a key member of the Board in terms of liaising and meeting with
the Shareholders and addressing their concerns and enquiries.
The directors of the Company, as non-executives, are expected to not only play a part in the management of the
Company but also to challenge and contribute to the development of strategy and the achievement of the
Company’s objectives. They all play their part by being experienced and commercial individuals who bring a wide
range of skills and capabilities to the Board.
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7. Evaluate all elements of Board performance based on clear and relevant objectives, seeking
continuous improvement
Performance effectiveness evaluation
An annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board and the Audit Committee is carried out through an internal
questionnaire process. The outcomes and principal findings are reported to the Board for consideration by the
Company Secretary with recommendations as to any action that might be taken and changes that could be made.
The evaluations for 2020 were conducted this Summer and the questionnaires were reviewed by the Company
Secretary with the feedback being provided to the Board. The evaluations concluded that the Board and the Audit
Committee performed well during the year under review and were effective in meeting their objectives and fulfilling
their obligations.
Succession Planning
Although the Company does not have a formal succession plan, the Board is satisfied that there is sufficient cross
over of skills and experience of the directors that there would be no immediate gaps in this area should a director
step down. The long-term strategy nature of the Company ensures that directors have long tenures and the
stability of the Company’s model means that all the necessary skills continue to be covered.
Should a director wish to step down, the Board would assess at this time the needs of the Company, and any
additional skills required, when appointing a new director. The Board will act collectively when making the decision
as to who to appoint.
8. Promote a corporate culture that is based on sound ethical values and behaviours
The Company’s culture
Given the size of the Board and the fact that the Company has no employees, the Company has a simple, open,
collegiate culture, which is promoted by the Board, with the objective of enhancing the shareholders’ long-term
interests through prudent, responsible and considered investment. This approach is a reflection of the Company’s
objectives, its strategy and its business model and takes into account the Company’s risks and uncertainties, all
of which are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 4 to 7.
The current culture promoted by the Board is considered appropriate and will continue until such time as the
Board considers that the Company’s strategy needs to be reviewed and updated.
9. Maintain governance structures and processes that are fit for purpose and support good decisionmaking by the Board
Roles and responsibilities of the Board
The Board as a whole, the size of which is considered appropriate given the size of the Company, manages the
business of the Company on behalf of Shareholders and in accordance with the Company’s Articles of
Association. This is achieved through its decision making and where appropriate through the delegation of certain
responsibilities to committees.
The roles of the Chairman, David Marshall, the Senior Independent Director, Andrew Hall, the individual nonexecutive members of the Board and the Company Secretary are explained above under Principle 6 on pages 19
to 20.
The Company’s Committees
Details in relation to the Company’s Committees are set out under Principle 5 above on Pages 17 to 18.
Matters reserved for the Board
The matters reserved for the Board and the terms of reference for the Audit Committee are available on the
Company’s website.
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10. Communicate how the Company is governed and is performing by maintaining a dialogue with
shareholders and other relevant stakeholders
The Audit Committee’s remit and work undertaken during the year ended 30 June 2020
The main roles of the Audit Committee are to monitor the Company’s internal controls, oversee reporting of risk
and risk mitigation processes, manage the relationship with, and review reports from, the Company’s auditors and
to review communications with shareholders concerning the Company’s accounts.
Audit Committee Report
No separate Audit Committee report is presented to shareholders as the Board does not consider at present that
this would improve the quality of communication with Shareholders given the simple structure of the Company.
The Board will continue to review this approach.
Remuneration and Nomination Committees
No separate Remuneration Committee report is presented to Shareholders. As explained under Principle 5 above
on Page 18 the Company has no Remuneration Committee because the Company has no employees and the
remuneration of each director is limited by the Articles of Association and considered and set by the Board as a
whole. Furthermore, given the current size of the Board, there is not a separate Nominations Committee and
recommendations for appointments to the Board will be considered by the Board as a whole, after due evaluation
and in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association.
Voting at AGMs
The results of voting on resolutions put to Shareholders in the Company’s AGMs are displayed in the News section
under Investors on the Company’s website.
There has been no significant voting (20 per cent or more) against any resolutions put to Shareholders in AGMs
over the last 5 years.
Financial reports and other Shareholder documents
All financial reports, annual and interim, and all other shareholder documentation including circulars, Notices of
AGM and GM sent to Shareholders over the last 5 years are displayed on the Company’s website.
Regulatory compliance
The Board strives to remain aware of its and the Company’s responsibilities in respect of all relevant and
applicable laws and regulations in the UK and, so far as the Board is aware, it and the Company have complied
with all such laws and regulations including the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Prospectus Rules, the
AQSE Growth Market Rules, the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended by the Financial Services
Act 2012, the relevant Disclosure and Transparency Rules, the EU Market Abuse Regulation 2014 and any
applicable codes of practice relating to takeovers and substantial acquisitions of shares.
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Third Party Indemnity Insurance
During the year, the Company has maintained insurance cover for its directors and officers under a Directors’ and
Officers’ liability insurance policy. The Company has not provided any qualifying third-party indemnity cover for
the directors although under the Company’s Articles of Association the Company may indemnify any Director or
other officer against any such liability.
Conflicts of interest
Under the Companies Act 2006, directors must avoid situations where a direct or indirect conflict of interest may
occur. The Company has in place procedures to deal with any situation where a conflict may be perceived.

18 September 2020

David Marshall
Chairman
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Western Selection
Western
SelectionPLC___________________________
PLC
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in Respect of the
accounts
The directors are responsible for preparing the strategic report, annual report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.
Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company law the directors must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. The directors are also required to prepare
financial statements in accordance with the rules of the AQSE Growth Market.
In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:
•

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•

make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

•

state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union,
subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

•

prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The directors are responsible for ensuring the annual report and the financial statements are made available on
a website. Financial statements are published on the Company's website in accordance with legislation in the
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements, which may vary from
legislation in other jurisdictions. The maintenance and integrity of the Company's website is the responsibility of
the directors. The directors' responsibility also extends to the ongoing integrity of the financial statements
contained therein.

Auditors
BDO LLP have signified their willingness to continue as auditors to the Company. Under the Companies Act 2006
section 489(4) their re-appointment will be deemed effective upon approval by the shareholders at the next AGM.
The directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any information
needed by the Company’s Auditors for the purposes of their audit and to establish that the Auditors are aware of
that information. The directors are not aware of any relevant audit information of which the Auditors are unaware.

18 September 2020

By Order of the Board

City Group PLC
Company Secretary
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO MEMBERS OF WESTERN SELECTION PLC
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Western Selection Plc (“the company”) for the year ended 30 June
2020 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Equity, the
Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows and the notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union.
In our opinion the financial statements:
•
•
•

give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 30 June 2020 and of its loss for the
year then ended;
have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union; and
have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report
to you where:
•
•

the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements
is not appropriate; or
the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement
(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Western Selection
Western
SelectionPLC___________________________
PLC
Key audit matter
Valuation of investments (Notes 7 and 8)

How we addressed the matter in our audit

Western Selection hold investments to the value of
£5,752,000, included within this are investments in
unquoted associates of £152,000. There is a risk
that misstatement can arise in terms of the valuation
criteria being applied to these investments given the
estimates and judgements involved in assessing for
indicators of impairment, and as such this is
regarded a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures included challenging
management on the treatment of investments under
the relevant accounting standards. For quoted
investments, we have recalculated fair value
adjustments based upon publicly available
information. For unquoted investments in
associates, we have corroborated the movement in
the investment value to the year-end statutory
financial statements where the year end of the
unquoted
investment
is
coterminous
or
management accounts where the year end of the
unquoted investment is not coterminous with that of
this company.
We have challenged management on the underlying
assumptions and judgements in considering
whether impairment is necessary. For all
investments in quoted holdings, we have reviewed
the market value post year end to consider if there
were any indicators of impairment. For all unquoted
investments in associates, we have reviewed
Western Selections share of their net assets as at
year end to confirm this is equal to or in excess of
the investment value.
Key observations
Based upon the procedures performed we
concluded that the judgements made by
management are reasonable and as such the
valuation of investments is not materially misstated.

Our application of materiality
We determined materiality to be £276,000 (2019 - £290,000) which represents approximately 3.5% of net assets.
We agreed with the audit committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
£13,800 (2019 - £14,500). We used net assets as a benchmark given the importance of net assets as a measure
for shareholders in assessing the performance of the company. A specific materiality was set for the audit of the
statement of comprehensive income, excluding valuation adjustments, at £9,700, being 3% of administrative
expenses.
An overview of the scope of our audit
Our audit approach was developed by obtaining an understanding of the company’s activities, and the overall
control environment. Based on this understanding we assessed those aspects of the company’s transactions and
balances which were most likely to give rise to a material misstatement. We designed our audit procedures to
respond to the risks, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than
the risk of not detecting one resulting from error.
Other information
The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report and accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion
on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work
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__________________________________
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•
•

the information given in the strategic report and directors’ report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
the strategic report and directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and directors’ report.
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 requires
us to report to you if, in our opinion;
•
•
•
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Responsibilities of Directors
As explained more fully in the statement of Directors' responsibilities , the Directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial
Reporting Council’s website at:
https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company’s members as a
body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

John Everingham (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Gatwick, UK
18 September 2020
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).
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Western Selection PLC___________________________

Western Selection PLC
Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June

2020
£000

2019
£000

56
56

150
117
267

(326)
-

(332)
156

Operating (loss)/profit

(270)

91

Share of loss of associated companies
Impairment provisions
Foreign exchange on bank balances
Finance income
Finance costs
Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss after taxation attributable to equity shareholders

(1)
121
(30)
(180)
(180)

(218)
(2,424)
14
(59)
(2,596)
(15)
(2,611)

(38)
(3,081)
(3,119)
(3,299)

38
(2,939)
(2,901)
(5,512)

(1.0)p

(14.5)p

Notes
Income from investments in:
Listed core holdings
Other listed undertakings

Administrative expenses
Profit on disposal of other investments

3

5

Other comprehensive loss
Bank revaluation
Fair value adjustment on Core Holdings
Total other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss

Basic and diluted loss per share attributable to equity
holders

7

The notes on pages 31 to 40 form part of these accounts.
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Statement of Changes of Equity

Year ended 30 June 2020
Balances at 1 July 2019
(Loss)/profit for the year
Share of undistributed losses of
associates reclassified to
realised equity on disposal
Other comprehensive loss Fair values net of tax
Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with shareholders
Final dividend paid in respect
of prior year (note 6)
Interim dividends paid in
respect of the year (note 6)
Total transactions with
shareholders
Balances at 30 June 2020

Year ended 30 June 2019
Balances at 1 July 2018
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive loss –
Fair values net of tax
Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with shareholders
Final dividend paid in respect
of prior year (note 6)
Interim dividends paid in
respect of the year (note 6)
Total transactions with
shareholders
Balances at 30 June 2019

Share of
undistributed
losses of
Realised
associates profit/(loss)
£000
£000

Share
capital
£000

Share
premium
account
£000

Capital
reserve
account
£000

Unrealised
profit/(loss) on
investments
£000

7,180
-

2,654
-

3
-

1,547)
121

(386)
(1)

-

-

-

-

301

(301)

-

-

-

-

(3,119)
(2,998)

-)
300)

-)
(601)

(3,119)
(3,299)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-)

-)

-)

-)

7,180

2,654

3

-)
(1,451)

-)
(86)

-)
(173)

-)
8,127

Share
capital
£000

Share
premium
account
£000

Capital
reserve
account
£000

Unrealised
profit/(loss) on
investments
£000

Share of
undistributed
losses of
Realised
associates profit/(loss)
£000
£000

Total
£000

7,180
-

2,654
-

3
-

6,139)
(1,691)

(168)
(218)

-

-

-

(2,901)

-

-

(2,901)

-)

-)

-)

(4,592)

(218)

(702)

(5,512)

-

-

-

-

-

(207)

(207)

-

-

-

-)

-)

(197)

(197)

7,180

2,654

3

-)
1,547)

-)
(386)

Total
£000

428) 11,426)
(300)
(180)

1,534) 17,342)
(702) (2,611)

(404)
(404)
428) 11,426)

The notes on pages 31 to 40 form part of these accounts.
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Western Selection PLC___________________________

Western Selection PLC
Statement of Financial Position
Registered Number 00234871
At 30 June

2020
£000

2019
£000

8
9

152
5,600
5,752

153
8,281
8,434

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

10

27
2,475
2,502

22
3,093
3,115

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Net Current Assets

11

(127)
2,375

(123)
2,992

8,127

11,426

7,180

7,180

2,654
3
(1,451)
(86)
(173)
8,127

2,654
3
1,547
(386)
428
11,426

Notes
Non-current Assets:
Investment in Associated companies
Investments in Core Holdings

Net Assets
Equity
Share capital
Share premium account
Capital reserve account
Unrealised (loss)/profit on investments
Share of undistributed losses of associates
Realised (loss)/profit
Shareholders’ Funds

14

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board

Edward Beale
Director
18 September 2020

The notes on pages 31 to 40 form part of these accounts.
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__________________________________
Statement of Cash Flow
For the year ended 30 June
Loss before taxation
Adjustment for non-cash items
Profit on sale of other investments
Fair value adjustment on other investments
Foreign exchange on bank balances
Impairment provisions
Share of results of associates
Net interest payable
Changes in working capital
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other receivables
Increase in trade and other payables
Cash absorbed by operations
Taxation paid
Net interest paid
Net cash absorbed by operations
Cash flow from investment activities
Purchase of Core Holdings
Proceeds on disposal of other financial instruments
Purchase of other financial instruments
Net cash (absorbed)/generated by investment activities
Financing activities
Loan drawdown
Loan repayment
Equity dividends paid
Net cash absorbed by financing activities
Movement in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year
Foreign exchange
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Analysis of net debt

Notes

9

6

2020
£000
(180)

2019
£000
(2,596)

(121)
1
30

(1,847)
1,691
2,424
218
44

(6)
15
(261)
(40)
(301)

13
18
(35)
(15)
(37)
(87)

(400)
(400)

4,586
(100)
4,486

(701)
3,093
83
2,475

600
(1,575)
(404)
(1,379)
3,020
35
38
3,093

At start of
year
£000

Cash Flow
£000

Foreign
exchange
£000

At end
of year
£000

3,093

(701)

83

2,475

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdraft

35
(975)

3,020
975

38
-

3,093
-

Total net cash/(debt)

(940)

3,995

38

3,093

2020
Cash and cash equivalents
2019

The notes on pages 31 to 40 form part of these accounts.
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Western Selection
Western
SelectionPLC___________________________
PLC
Notes to the Accounts

For the year ended 30 June 2020
1.

Accounting Policies
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
and adopted by the European Union and with the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies preparing
their accounts under IFRS.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis for making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. No significant judgements have
been made. The most significant estimate is the impairment provision against investments (note 1 (ix)).
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision in future periods if applicable. The most significant techniques for estimation are
described in the accounting policies below. These policies have been applied consistently to all of the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.
Dividends receivable are recognised in the income statement, in respect of quoted shares, when the
shares are quoted ex-dividend and, in respect of unquoted shares, when the dividend is declared.

(iv) Dividends paid are included in the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the related
dividends are actually paid or, in respect of the Company’s final dividend for the year, approved by
shareholders.
(v) Financial assets are classified by category, depending on the purpose for which the asset was acquired.
The Company’s accounting policy is as follows:
a) Quoted investments held as core holdings – the Company has elected to treat these holdings as
investments at fair value through other comprehensive income as they are not held for trading. They are
carried at market value with changes in market value recognised directly in other comprehensive
income. Gains and losses realised on sale of these core holdings are not recycled through the Profit or
loss but are transferred directly to realised profits/(losses) in the equity accounts.
b) Quoted investments held as part of the treasury operations – these are classified as financial assets
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss. Changes in the fair values of these financial assets are
recorded in Other income/expenses through profit or loss. Gains and losses realised on the sale of these
financial assets will be recorded in the profit or loss to the extent of the difference between sale price
and fair value previously recorded.
The valuation methods for both Investments held as core holdings and Investments held as part of
treasury operations are classified as level 1 under IFRS 13 in terms of the fair value hierarchy, being
quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets.
c) Trade and other receivables include loans and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents and
are carried at amortised cost. The carrying amounts approximate to their fair values, the transactions
giving rise to these balances arising in the normal course of trade and standard industry terms.
d) Under the expected credit loss model, the Company assesses, on a forward-looking basis, the expected
credit loss associated with its financial assets. A provision is made when credit risk has increased
significantly from initial recognition of the asset and this is reviewed and updated annually.
(vi) Trade and other payables are amounts that represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the
group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
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__________________________________
1.

Accounting Policies (continued)
Borrowings and bank facility borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings
using the effective interest rate method.
Interest rate swaps are classified as financial assets or liabilities at fair value thought Profit or Loss. The
fair value is determined by market value quotes received from independent financial institutions. Changes in
the fair value are recognised in Profit or Loss as they arise.
Investments in associated companies are equity accounted. The investment is initially recognised at cost
and then adjusted for the share of comprehensive income. These are reviewed for impairment annually. If
there is indication that the carrying amount of the investment is higher than the share of the associate’s assets,
an impairment provision is recognised as an expense in the current financial period.
The charge for taxation is based on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted at the reporting
date. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of
income (primarily franked dividend income) and expenses that are never taxable or deductible and items which
are taxable or deductible in other years.
Deferred taxation is provided on the liability method based on temporary differences between the taxation
base of an asset or liability and its carrying amount, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date. A deferred
tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the deferred taxation asset can be realised in the foreseeable future.
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances.
The Company comprises one business segment only.
All revenues are derived from operations within the United Kingdom. Consequently, no separate business or
geographical segment information is provided.

2. Going Concern
Covid-19 was declared a global pandemic on 11 March 2020 and has had a profound personal, social and
financial impact around the world. On the 23 March 2020 the United Kingdom went into lockdown which impacted
all areas of the economy. Consequently, there have been large fluctuations on stock markets in both the United
Kingdom and globally, although stock market indices have recovered substantially since their lows in March 2020.
The long-term effect is likely to be on dividends cancelled, deferred, or re-based, and on increased volatility.
At the time of writing the pandemic continues to have an effect on both the United Kingdom and global economies
and, with the potential for new waves of the pandemic occurring, it is not possible to say with any certainty when
the effects of the pandemic may dissipate substantially. Such uncertainty affects the investments in the Core
Holdings by reducing the value of investments in addition to the value received from the Core Holdings through
the non-payment of dividends. The continuation of the pandemic increases the likelihood of the Core Holdings
continuing to refrain from declaring dividends in the next financial year and thereby reducing the income to the
Company. There is also the potential that a second lockdown will affect the ability for the Core Holdings to conduct
business in areas such as the sale of products, which may potentially affect their ability to continue as a going
concern.
In response to these uncertainties the Board has sought to minimise the risks to the Company and are actively
monitoring the performance of the Company’s investments. Although the Core Holdings have been effected by
the Covid-19 pandemic they have continued to perform, despite the challenges faced, and the directors are
comfortable as to their long term viability and the ability to return to the payment of dividends in future years.
Uncertainty over Brexit has also affected investor confidence due to the uncertainty surrounding the United
Kingdom’s position at the end of the transition period on 1 January 2021. There is also doubt as to whether there
will be a trade deal with the EU in place before this date. A no-deal Brexit is likely to lead to significant disruption
in supply chains and business practices, as well as increased cost to businesses to be able to suitably adapt,
which could have an impact on the Company’s Core Holdings. The Board will continue to monitor the situation
and provide support to Core Holdings who may struggle in a no-deal scenario.
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Western Selection
Western
SelectionPLC___________________________
PLC
Notes to the Accounts (continued)
2. Going Concern (continued)
Due to the relatively low cost of operating the Company compared to the high value of the cash balance held of
£2,475,000, and the Company having additional access to funds that will allow the Company to continue trading,
the Board is satisfied that the Company shall continue to be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due
for at least 12 months from the date of signing the financial statements. In addition, the Company also conducts
intermittent stress testing to ensure the Company shall remain a viable going concern for at least 3 years The
board will also continue to seek out investment opportunities that will enhance the financial performance of the
Company.
The Board will continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of these financial
statements.

3. Administrative expenses

Auditors’ remuneration – for audit services
Directors’ emoluments as set out in Note 4
Other administrative expenses

2020
£000
18
80
228
326

2019
£000
19
84
229
332

4. Directors’ emoluments and related party disclosures
The emoluments of key management personnel, being the directors of the Company, were as follows:

D.C. Marshall
A.J. Hall
E.J. Beale
N Stagg
J Dumeresque
Amount paid to third parties

2020
£000
15
15
15
45
35
80

2019
£000
19
15
15
49
35
84

The services of David Marshall are supplied for £20,000 by a company, in which none of the directors are
beneficially interested (2019 - £20,000). The services of Edward Beale were supplied by his primary employer,
Marshall Monteagle PLC, for £15,000 (2019 - £15,000).
The section on ‘Related party disclosures’ below gives details of the interests of the directors in any material
transactions. Other than as disclosed, no director was interested in any contract between the directors, the
Company and any other related parties which subsisted during or at the end of the financial year.
Other than the Directors, the Company has no staff or staff costs.
London Finance & Investment Group PLC ("Lonfin") a company incorporated in England with its registered office
at 1 Ely Place, London, EC1N 6RY, has a 43.8% interest and board control in the Company. In addition, the Board
recognise that, although LonFin does not hold a simple majority of the shares, it is unlikely an ordinary resolution
would be able to be passed without their support giving them an additional level of control. Under IFRS 10 Lonfin
is considered to be the parent and ultimate parent undertaking of a group of companies of which the Company is
a member and for which group financial statements are drawn up. Copies of these group financial statements
have been delivered to the Registrar of Companies. The Company’s financial statements are not consolidated
within this group as the parent company is able to take advantage of the investment entity exemption in IFRS 10.
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4. Directors’ emoluments and related party disclosures (continued)
David Marshall and Edward Beale are directors of Lonfin. David Marshall has an interest in Lonfin through family
trusts, which hold 12,890,693 shares, representing approximately 41.3% of Lonfin's issued share capital. There
were no amounts due to or from Lonfin at 30 June 2020 or 2019.
The Company owns 48.6% of City Group PLC and the remaining 51.4% is owned by Lonfin. David Marshall, and
Edward Beale are directors of Lonfin and also City Group. City Group provides office, accounting and company
secretarial services to the Company, Lonfin and other companies. During the year under review the Company
paid £138,000 (2019 - £142,000) to City Group. These fees covered the provision of office accommodation to
directors, investment advice, portfolio management, company secretarial, administrative and accounting services.
At 30 June 2020, fees and expenses of £44,000 were due to City Group (2019 - £50,000).

5. Taxation
The tax charge for the year arises on unrelieved tax on foreign dividend income. The tax assessed for the year is
lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The differences are explained below:

Loss before taxation
Taxation at 19% (2019 – 19%)
Effects of:
Tax losses carried forward
Capital losses utilised
Associates – share of results net of tax
Non-taxable and other income/(loss)

2020
£000
(180)
34

2019
£000
(2,596)
493

(44)
10
-

(64)
74
(41)
(477)
(15)

6. Dividends
Amounts recognised as distributions to the shareholders of the Company in the year were as follows:

Final dividend in respect of prior year
Interim dividend for the year

2020
Per share
-

2019
Per share
1.15p
1.1p

The total dividends paid in 2020 and 2019 were £Nil and £404,000 (2.25p per share) respectively. No dividend
payment in respect of the year ended 30 June 2020 is to be proposed at the AGM to be held on 25th November
2020.

7. Earnings per share
Earnings per share are based on the loss on ordinary activities after taxation of £180,000 (2019 – loss of
£2,611,000) and on 17,949,872 shares (2019 – 17,949,872) being the weighted average number of shares in
issue during the period.
Basic loss per share

2020
(1.0)p

2019
(14.5)p

Diluted earnings per share at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019 are the same as basic earnings per share.
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)
8. Non-current assets – Investments in Associates
Shares at cost:
Cost
Impairment provisions
Conversion of loan into redeemable preference shares
Cumulative share of losses
Balance at 30 June

2020
£000

2019
£000

153
(1)
152

1,830
(2,209)
750
(218)
153

An impairment review was performed during 2019 and, as a result, an impairment provision against the value of
Associates was recognised. The current year review did not indicate that additional provision is necessary.
The investment in Tudor Rose was sold with effect from 8 April 2020 for £3 plus contingent deferred consideration
and a time limited option to repurchase the shares at the same price. As the investment in Tudor Rose was fully
impaired in 2019, the loss on disposal did not affect the current financial statements.

a) City Group is incorporated and operates in England and Wales and its prime activity is the provision of

corporate services. City Group’s year end is 30 June. It has 70,000 ordinary shares in issue of which the
Company owns 34,000 (approximately 48.6%). The following amounts have been extracted from the unaudited accounts of City Group for the year ended 30 June 2020.

At 30 June
Net current assets
Aggregate capital and reserves
Share of net assets
Share of profit/(loss) after tax for the year
Share of post-acquisition profit at 30 June
Year ended 30 June
Turnover
Profit/(Loss) before taxation
Profit/(Loss) after taxation
Total comprehensive income
Share of profit/(loss) after tax

2020
£000
187
211
103
11
36

2019
£000
166
205
100
(5)
25

657
23
23
23
11

603
(10)
(11)
(11)
(5)

b) Industrial & Commercial Holdings PLC (“ICH”) is incorporated and operates in England and Wales and
its prime activity is that of a holding company. ICH’s year end is 30 June. It has 50,995,718 ordinary 1p
shares in issue of which the Company owns 15,252,744 shares (approximately 29.9%). The following
amounts have been extracted from the audited accounts of ICH.
At 30 June
Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment
Net current assets
Aggregate capital and reserves
Share of net assets
Share of post-acquisition loss at 30 June
Year ended 30 June
Loss before and after taxation
Total comprehensive loss
Share of loss after tax for the year
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2020
£000
42
124
166
50
(114)

2019
£000
42
135
177
53
(110)

(12)
(12)
(4)

(22)
(22)
(7)
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9. Non-current assets – Investments (see note 1(v) a & b)

Year ended 30 June 2020
Cost
Fair value adjustment
Balance at 1 July 2019
Additions
Change in fair value
Balance at 30 June 2020

Year ended 30 June 2019
Cost
Fair value adjustment
Balance at 1 July 2018
Additions
Disposals
Change in fair value
Balance at 30 June 2019

Quoted Core
Holdings
£000

Other
Quoted
Investments
£000

Total
£000

6,771
1,510
8,281
400
(3,081)
5,600

-

6,771
1,510
8,281
400
(3,081)
5,600

Quoted Core
Holdings
£000

Other Quoted
Investments
£000

Total
£000

6,771
4,449
11,220
(2,939)
8,281

2,639
1,690
4,329
100
(4,586)
157
-

9,410
6,139
15,549
100
(4,586)
(2,782)
8,281

*We also hold £194,000 of unquoted investments which were fully impaired in previous years .

10. Trade and other receivables
Receivable after more than one
year
Other loans
Impairment provision
Receivable in less than one year
Amounts due from associate
Prepayments and accrued income

2020

2019

£000

-

£000
215
(215)
-

27
27

7
15
22
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Notes to the Accounts (continued)
11. Trade and other payables

Other accounts payable and
accruals
Interest rate swap

2020
£000

2019
£000

90
37
127

104
19
123

12. Deferred Taxation
The Company’s estimated Corporation Tax losses of £5,032,000 (2019 - £5,818,000) and Capital Tax losses of
£Nil (2019 - £Nil). These losses are subject to agreement of tax computations with Her Majesty’s Revenue &
Customs.
The Company has unrealised taxable loss for the year but deferred tax asset is not recognised. This is because
it is uncertain that future taxable profits will be available, in the foreseeable future, against which these deferred
tax assets can be realised.

13. Equity
The following describes the nature and purpose of each component within equity:
Share capital
Share premium
Capital Reserve
Unrealised gains and losses on
investments
Share of undistributed
profits/(losses) of associates
Realised profits and losses

Description and Purpose
Nominal value of issued share capital.
Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.
Amount transferred from realised profit equal to the value of any shares
cancelled to maintain capital.
Difference between historical cost and fair value of investments held, as
set out in the Statement of Financial Position.
The Company’s share of cumulative post-acquisition gains and losses of
associated companies recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income.
Realised profits of the Company less realised losses

14. Share Capital

Authorised equity share capital
30,000,000 shares of 40p each (2019 – 30,000,000
shares of 40p each)

2020
£000

2019
£000

12,000

12,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid equity share capital:
Balance brought forward and carried forward at 30
June – 17,949,872 shares of 40p each

7,180

7,180
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15. Financial Instruments
The directors set out below an explanation of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks the Company faces in its activities. The explanation summarises the objectives and
policies for holding or issuing financial instruments and similar contracts, and the strategies for achieving the
objectives that have been followed during the year. The Company monitors its performance against these
objectives on a continuous basis and through bi-monthly reports of the investment portfolio and cash position.
The categories of financial instruments used by the Company are:
Financial assets

2020
£000

2019
£000

27

22

-

-

5,600

8,281

(90)

(104)

(37)

(19)

At amortised cost
Trade and other receivables
Loans and receivables
At fair value through other comprehensive income
Investments in Core Holdings
Financial Liabilities
At amortised cost
Trade and other payables
At fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate swap

Our business model is to embrace risk associated with our Core Holdings and to manage operational risk in
supporting processes. The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are price risk, interest rate
risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and currency risk. The Board reviews and agrees policies, which have remained
unchanged for the year under review, for managing these risks.
Price Volatility
As part of its treasury operations the Company may own a spread of financial instruments with good market
liquidity. The future values of these financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in interest rates,
exchange rates and other market factors. The Company is also exposed to market price risk on its Core Holdings.
The directors believe that the exposure to market price risk from these activities is acceptable in the Company’s
circumstances.
The sensitivity to each 1% decrease in the value of financial instruments would result in their fair values decreasing
by £56,000 (2019 - £82,000) and a corresponding decrease in unrealised profits. A 1% increase, would, on the
same basis, increase fair values and increase the unrealised profits.
Interest Rate Risk Profile
The Company finances its operations through a mixture of share capital, share premium, reserves and retained
profits. The Company also has available a bank borrowing facility, in pounds sterling, at a floating rate of interest.
The Company’s policy is to keep any of its borrowings at floating rates of interest. Surplus funds are held in
interest bearing accounts at competitive commercial rates.
The Company has a five-year revolving credit facility of £1,900,000 expiring on 30 September 2022. The facility
is secured on the portfolio of investments. Interest on the amounts drawn under the facility accrues at 2.75% over
Bank of England Base Rate. At 30 June 2020, the Company had no outstanding borrowings under the facility
(2019 – Nil) and loans receivable of Nil (2019- Nil).
In order to minimise the impact from possible interest rate fluctuations the Company entered into an Interest rate
swap agreement with Coutts & Co on 1 October 2018. The fair value of the Interest swap as at 30 June 2020 is
a liability of £37,000 (2019 - £19,000).
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38

63706_WESTERN SELECTION_Annual-Rep+Accs_2020_TXT-48pp_2.indd 39

28/09/2020 10:54

Western Selection
PLC___________________________
Western
Selection
PLC
Notes to the Accounts (continued)
15. Financial Instruments (continued)
Liquidity Risk
The directors do not think that there is a material exposure to liquidity risk based on the cash and credit facilities
available in relation to the magnitude of creditors.
The Company’s policy is that its borrowings should be flexible and available over the medium term. The bank
facility is a £1.9 million revolving credit facility expiring on 30 September 2022. The Company holds financial
instruments, most of which are listed on recognised stock exchanges. In normal market conditions these are, by
their nature, liquid. However, there are periods when the market may not be prepared to deal in realistic prices in
unusually large blocks of certain financial instruments and this particularly applies to our Core Holdings. The
Company’s policy is to hold financial instruments outside of its Core Holdings with an aggregate market value of
at least 167% of borrowings at any point in time.
Credit Risk
No concentration of credit risk exists in the Company’s principal financial assets, other than surplus funds which
are deposited with the Company’s bank. Credit risk is minimised as the counter-parties are institutions with high
credit ratings. Loans to Core Holdings and their directors are reviewed for creditworthiness alongside the
performance of Core Holdings at each Board meeting.
The expected credit loss on the types of financial assets held at 30 June 2020 has been exceptionally low and
this, combined with management’s views of the credit risk profile, suggests no loss allowance is considered
necessary.
Currency Exposure
The foreign exchange fluctuation during the year effected only the bank balances held in European currencies
(CHF and EUR) and USD. The value of these at 30 June 2020 was £2,350,000 (financial instruments held in 2019
- £3,437,000). The sensitivity to each 7% decrease/increase in the relative exchange rates applicable to these
balances would result in a decrease/increase in value of £154,000 and a corresponding change in reserves. The
rate used is based on the average % of fluctuation in the currency rates during the year.

16. International Financial Reporting Standards
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations will be effective for financial periods
ending after 30 June 2020 and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. These standards
will have no impact on the financial statements.
IFRS/
IFRIC/
IAS
IFRS 3
IAS 1
IAS 8

Title
Business Combinations – Technical changes
Presentation of Financial Statements – Technical changes
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors –
Technical changes

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
1 January 2020
1 January 2020
1 January 2020

The adoption of IFRS 16 “Leases” and IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatment” in these financial
statements had not impact. The company does not have any leases and has not identified uncertainty over tax
treatments. There are no other new standards or interpretations effective for the first time for the period beginning
1 January 2019 that had a significant effect on the company’s financial statements.
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17. Related Undertakings
In accordance with section 409 of the Companies Act 2006, a full list of related undertakings, the country of
incorporation and the percentage of equity owned, directly or indirectly, as at 30 June 2020, is disclosed below:
Company
City Group PLC

Country
United Kingdom

Industrial & Commercial Holdings
PLC

United Kingdom

Registered office
1 Ely Place, London,
EC1N 6RY
1 Ely Place, London,
EC1N 6RY

% ownership
48.6%
29.9%

40
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SelectionPLC___________________________
PLC
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Western Selection PLC will be held at the
offices of City Group PLC, 1 Ely Place, London EC1N 6RY on 25th November 2020 at 11.00 a.m.
Covid-19 Restrictions
Following the recent increase in Covid-19 cases in the United Kingdom, the board will implement the following
measures for the Annual General Meeting, in line with the current measures being implemented by the
Government in the United Kingdom, in order to safeguard the health of its shareholders and stakeholders.
The formal business of the Annual General Meeting will only be to consider and vote upon the resolutions set out
in the notice of meeting below. In order to maintain the highest safety standards, attendance at the meeting will
be limited to two persons physically present acting as proxy on behalf of shareholders, which will be sufficient to
make it a quorate meeting. Shareholders are encouraged to nominate the Chairman to act as their proxy as no
additional proxies will be admitted to the meeting in person.
In line with corporate governance best practice and in order that the proxy votes of shareholders are fully reflected
in the voting on the resolutions, the Chairman of the meeting will direct that voting on all resolutions, as set out in
this notice, will take place by way of a poll. Under the Company’s Articles, votes on a poll may be given personally,
by a corporate representative or by proxy.
As Shareholders will not be able to attend this year's Annual General Meeting the Company requests that
shareholders raise any issues or concerns, arising from the business proposed to be conducted at the meeting, to the
Company’s company secretary. Appropriate questions may be emailed to mail@city-group.com. Responses
will be posted to the Company’s website.
Resolutions
The Resolutions to be voted upon at the Annual General Meeting are as follows:
To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions, of which Resolutions 1 to 4 will be proposed as
ordinary resolutions and Resolutions 5 and 6 will be proposed as special resolutions.
1.

To receive the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 together with the reports of the
directors and auditors thereon.

2.

To re-elect Mr D.C.Marshall as a director, who retires by rotation and offers himself for re-election.

3.

To re-appoint BDO LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the directors to agree their
remuneration.

4.

THAT the directors be generally and unconditionally authorised, pursuant to and in accordance with section
551 of the Companies Act 2006, to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot shares in the Company
and to grant rights to subscribe for, or to convert any security into shares in the Company (‘Rights’) up to a
maximum nominal amount of £4,820,000, provided that this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held in 2020, save that the Company shall be entitled to
make offers or agreements before the expiry of this authority which would or might require shares to be
allotted or Rights to be granted after such expiry and the directors shall be entitled to allot shares and grant
Rights pursuant to any such offers or agreements as if this authority had not expired; and all unexercised
authorities previously granted to the directors to allot shares and grant Rights be and are hereby revoked.

5.

THAT,

(a)

subject to the passing of Resolution 4 set out above, the directors be empowered, pursuant to section 570
and section 573 of the Companies Act 2006, to allot equity securities, within the meaning of section 560 of
that Act, for cash pursuant to the authority conferred by Resolution 4, as if section 561(1) of that Act did not
apply to any such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited to:
(i)

to the allotment of shares in the Company in connection with or pursuant to an offer by way of rights,
bonus issues or other similar issues to the holders of Shares of 40p each in the capital of the
Company and other persons entitled to participate therein in proportion (as nearly as may be) to such
holders' holdings of such shares (or, as appropriate, to the numbers of such shares which such other
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persons are for those purposes deemed to hold) subject only to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the directors may feel necessary or expedient to deal with (i) fractional entitlements
or legal or practical problems under the laws or the requirements of any recognised regulatory body
in any territory (ii) underwriting of such an issue and (iii) applications by shareholders for equity
instruments offered to other shareholders as part of such an issue, but not taken up by other
shareholders; and
(ii)

the allotment to any person or persons (otherwise than in connection with a rights issue) of equity
securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £717,995 (being approximately 10% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company).

(b)

the power given by this resolution shall expire upon the expiry of the authority conferred by Resolution 4
set out above, save that the directors shall be entitled to make offers or agreements before the expiry of
such power which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after such expiry and the directors
shall be entitled to allot equity securities pursuant to any such offers or agreements as if the power conferred
hereby had not expired; and

(c)

words and expressions defined in or for the purposes of Part 17 of the Companies Act 2006 shall bear the
same meaning herein.

6.

That subject to the Company’s Articles of Association and section 701 of the Companies Act 2006, the
Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised to make one or more market purchases
of its own ordinary shares on such terms, provided that:

(a)

the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares hereby authorised to be acquired is 1,790,000 (being
approximately 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company);

(b)

the maximum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is no more that 5% above the average of
the price of the ordinary shares of the Company (derived from the NEX Exchange Growth Market
website) for the five business days prior to the date of purchase and the minimum price per ordinary
share is 40p in each case exclusive of any expenses payable by the Company; and

(c)

the authority hereby given shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company save that the Company may make a purchase of ordinary shares after expiry of such authority
in execution of a contract of purchase that was made under and before the expiry of such authority.

18 September 2020

By Order of the Board

City Group PLC
Company Secretary
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Notes
1.

A form of proxy is enclosed.

2.

Shareholders are encouraged to nominate the Chairman as their proxy due to the limits on individuals being
able to attend the meeting in person.

3.

To be valid the form of proxy should be completed and returned so as to reach the Company’s Registrars,
Neville Registrars Limited, Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen, West Midlands, B62 8HD, U.K. not
later than 11.00 a.m. on 23 November 2020. Completion of a form of proxy does not preclude a member
from subsequently attending and voting in person.

4

Any member or his/her proxy, with the right to attend the Meeting has the right to submit any question,
relating to the business of the Meeting, to the company secretary at mail@city-group.com. All questions
should be received by 11:00am on 23rd November 2020

5.

Only shareholders registered in the register of members of the Company as at 6.00 p.m. on 22nd November
2020 shall be entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting in respect of the number of shares registered in
their name at such time as long as their proxy form is submitted within the deadline.

6.

In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior holder who tenders a vote whether in person or by proxy
shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall
be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register of members of the Company in respect
of the relevant joint holding.

7.

Copies of directors’ letters of appointment are available on request to the company secretary by making
the request to mail@city-group.com.

8.

As at 17th September 2020 (being the last business day prior to the publication of this Notice) the Company’s
issued share capital consists of 17,949,872 ordinary shares, carrying one vote each. The total voting rights
in the Company as at 17 September 2020 are 17,949,872.

9.

The information required to be published by section 311(A) of the Companies Act 2006 (information about
the contents of this Notice and numbers of shares in the Company and voting rights exercisable at the
Meeting and details of any members’ statements, members’ resolutions and members’ items of business
received after the date of this Notice) may be found at www.westernselection.co.uk

Change of address: Members are requested to advise the Company’s Registrars, Neville Registrars Limited,
Neville House, Steelpark Road, Halesowen, West Midlands, B62 8HD of any change of address.
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FORM OF PROXY
I/we............………….......…......................................................................................................................
of............................….............................................................................................…………....................
..................................…..........................................................................…………....................................
being (a) member(s) of the above-named company (the “Company”) hereby appoint the chairman of
the Meeting, failing whom
...........................................................................................................................................................
as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to
be held on 25th November 2020 and at any adjournment thereof.

I/We hereby authorise and instruct my/our proxy to vote as indicated below on the resolutions to be
proposed at such meeting. Unless otherwise directed the proxy will vote or abstain from voting as he
thinks fit.

✃

RESOLUTIONS (Resolutions 1-4 will be Ordinary Resolutions
and Resolutions 5 and 6 will be Special Resolutions)
1.

To receive the financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2020, together with the reports of the Directors and
Auditors.

2.

To re-elect Mr D.C Marshall as a director.

3.

To re-appoint BDO LLP as Auditors of the Company and to
authorise the Directors to agree their remuneration.

4.

To authorise the Directors to allot shares under section 551
of the Companies Act 2006.

5.

To disapply
Resolution).

6.

To authorise the Directors to repurchase shares (Special
Resolution).

statutory

pre-emption

Dated

rights

2020

For

Against

Withheld

(Special

Signature

1
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Notes:
1. In line with the restrictions at the Annual General Meeting as set out in the notice, the shareholders
are encouraged to nominate the Chairman as their proxy due to the limits on individuals being able to
attend the meeting in person.
2. Please indicate with a cross in the appropriate box how you wish your votes to be cast. If you do not
make a specific direction, the proxy will vote (or abstain from voting) at his or her discretion. On any
other business which properly comes before the Meeting (including any motion to amend any resolution
or to adjourn the Meeting) the proxy will vote or abstain at his or her discretion
3. To be valid, this form of proxy, and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) must be received
at the offices of the Company’s Registrars, Neville Registrars Limited, Neville House, Steelpark Road,
Halesowen, West Midlands, B62 8HD, U.K not later than 11.00 a.m. on 23rdth November 2020.
4. Completion and return of this form of proxy will be taken as your final votes. Admission to the Annual
General Meeting will not be permitted in line with the restrictions as set out in the notice.
5. In the case of a corporate shareholder, this form of proxy should either be executed by the company
under seal or under the hand of two authorised signatories or a director in the presence of a witness
(whose name, address and occupation should be stated).
6. In the case of joint holders, the vote of the first-named in the register of members of the Company
will be accepted to the exclusion of that of other joint holders.
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